



BYLAWS
OF
THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE WORKFORCE AGENCIES
(Formed under the Virginia Non-stock Corporation Act)

Adopted September 28, 2016

ARTICLE ONE

MISSION

To enhance the state workforce agencies' ability to accomplish their goals, statutory roles and responsibilities.

VISION

To be a leading national advocate for workforce development policy and catalyst for system advances.

Strategic Goals

Drive the national agenda for workforce policy by:

- Being the respected voice of state workforce systems;
- Defining national policy on workforce and related issues; and by
- Aligning the work of our national partners.

Provide high value member services by:

- Building an active network for state administrators;
- Sharing best practices to successfully advance the national and state workforce system, improving the business climate and economic opportunities for employers and job seekers; and by
- Providing workforce program and technology solutions.

Guiding Principles

External

- Promote the publicly-funded workforce system and drive the national agenda on workforce development as the voice of state workforce agencies;
- Lead coordination of local, state and federal officials who have responsibility for the success of the workforce system in meeting employer and job seeker needs;

- Further the understanding that the core function of the workforce system is to meet employers' needs for a qualified workforce, to find good and stable employment for workers and to help workers advance their careers;
- Advance the states' role in the workforce system to ensure quality and consistency of customer service across America's labor markets;

Internal

- Provide superior value-added member services, including research, identification of best practices, technical support, information technology initiatives, professional development and training; and
- Invest in the training and professional development of the workforce system's staff, particularly those who deliver services to customers, including employers and job seekers.

ARTICLE TWO

MEMBERS AND MEETINGS

Section 1 – *Members.*

Each state agency with principal responsibility for workforce programs, including state administrators of unemployment insurance laws, employment and training services, labor exchange, employment statistics and labor market information programs, and related programs and services made available through the publicly-funded state workforce systems shall be an eligible member of the Association.

The state administrator(s) of the aforementioned agency(s) shall authorize “regular” memberships for personnel from these agency(s).

The state administrator(s) of the aforementioned agency(s) may authorize “associate” memberships for personnel from other core Workforce Innovation and Opportunity (WIOA) partner agencies, which are not part of the agency(s) with principal responsibility.

Section 2 - *Standing Membership Meetings.*

There shall be two standing membership meetings annually, one as the Annual Conference and a second full membership meeting, which shall be generally held six months apart. The Board of Directors shall decide the dates, location, and agenda for each meeting.

(a) Annual Conference

The Annual Conference shall be held at a location to be determined by the eligible voting members of the Association, on a date to be specified by the Board of Directors for the election of officers and directors and the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the members at such time. The Board may arrange an alternate location, if the state of the membership-selected location becomes unable to support the conference.

Members who wish to host the Annual Conference shall forward their proposals to the Executive Director for submittal to the Board. Whenever possible, the site of the Annual Conference shall be selected not less than twenty (20) months in advance.

(b) Second Full Membership Meeting

A second full membership meeting shall be held in the Washington, D.C. area, on a date to be specified by the Board of Directors.

Section 3 - *Special Membership Meetings.*

A special membership meeting may be called by a majority of the Board of Directors where a vote of the membership is required and the matter is urgent and cannot be delayed until the next regularly scheduled meeting. Special membership meetings may be in-person or by phone/web conference.

Section 4 - *Notice of Regular and Special Membership Meetings.*

Written notice of each meeting of the members shall be given by the Association and shall state the date, time and place of the meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is being called. Notice shall be given to each member not less than (10) calendar days before the date of any meeting.

Section 5 - *Quorum.*

One-half of the members entitled to vote, either represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of members for the transaction of any business. Once a member is present at a meeting, such member is deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting and for adjournment of that meeting.

Section 6 – *Voting at Membership Meetings.*

Each state shall be entitled to only one vote, as determined by the administrators of its agency(s) who qualify as regular members. The President may be the voting member for the President’s state.

A majority vote of the member states casting ballots shall be required for the adoption of positions and the transaction of all other business affecting the Association.

In the event of a tie, the matter shall be put to a second vote after a period of additional discussion. In the event of a second tie, the matter shall be considered as not carried.

Voting may be in person or by a written proxy signed by the member or such member's duly authorized attorney-in-fact. Written proxies must be received by the Secretary no less than two (2) hours prior to the start of the business session. Proxies shall be publicly reviewed prior to the start of the meeting. Oral proxies shall not be accepted. A proxy shall be valid for the business session for which it is received.

ARTICLE THREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1 - *Number, Classes, Election, and Terms.*

The directors shall consist of a maximum of (5) Officer-Directors, who shall constitute the Executive Committee, and the number of Regional Directors listed herein. The President, President-Elect, the most recent Past-President available to serve, Secretary, and Treasurer of the Corporation shall be the Officer-Directors, who shall serve as the Executive Committee. The Association’s Executive Director shall serve as a non-voting member of the Executive Committee, and may be asked to leave the meeting in the case of an executive session.

As provided in the Articles of Incorporation, at each Annual Conference the members shall elect Regional Directors in the following manner: one Regional Director and one Alternate Regional Director shall be nominated and elected from among the state administrators from each of the following regions:

- **Region I** consisting of Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Puerto Rico, and Vermont.
- **Region II** consisting of Connecticut, New York, New Jersey, Rhode Island, and the Virgin Islands.
- **Region III** consisting of Delaware, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Virginia, West Virginia, and the District of Columbia.
- **Region IV** consisting of Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Tennessee.
- **Region V** consisting of Illinois, Indiana, Minnesota, Michigan, Ohio, and Wisconsin.
- **Region VI** consisting of Arkansas, Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Texas.
- **Region VII** consisting of Iowa, Kansas, Missouri, and Nebraska.
- **Region VIII** consisting of Colorado, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Utah, and Wyoming.
- **Region IX** consisting of Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada, and Guam.
- **Region X** consisting of Alaska, Idaho, Oregon, and Washington.

Each Regional Director shall be elected for a one-year term until the next Annual Conference or until their successor has been elected. Each region shall also elect an Alternate Regional Director who shall serve for one year until the next Annual Conference or until their successor has been elected. There shall be no more than one voting Board member from any member state, nor shall any state have both a Regional Director and an Alternate Regional Director serving concurrently. The Regional Director shall keep all member agencies from their region informed about Board decisions and issues.

Section 2 - Powers and Duties.

All Association powers shall be exercised by, or under the authority of, and the business of the Association shall be managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors. In addition to the powers conferred upon the directors by statute or otherwise, the Board shall have all powers necessary to carry out the mission and business of the Association.

The Board shall determine the scope and direction of the Association's programs annually and shall establish and charge committees to assist in carrying out these programs.

The Board shall designate and employ an Executive Director, and establish their responsibilities. The Executive Director shall be the chief executive officer of the Association.

Section 3 - Meetings and Notices.

An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held each year at the Annual Conference. Regular and special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at places and times determined by the Board, on the call of the President, or on the call of the majority of the members of the Board.

Notice of meetings shall be given to each director at least three (3) business days before each meeting. The notice shall contain the time and place of the meeting and shall specify the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is being called. Meetings may be validly held without such notice if all the directors are present or if those not present either waive notice or ratify the action taken at the meeting in writing within ten (10) business days following the meeting.

Section 4 - Resignation and Vacancies.

Any director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board of Directors, the President, or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect when such notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date.

The term of any Regional Director or Alternate Regional Director shall end automatically at the time they cease to be employed by a member agency. In the event a Regional Director leaves the Board, for whatever reason, the Region's Alternate Regional Director shall immediately replace the region's departed Regional Director and Board member, serving the balance of the unexpired term.

A vacancy in the Alternate Regional Director position shall be filled within thirty (30) calendar days by a vote of the members from the states in the affected region. Such vote may be taken by email ballot.

Section 5 - Quorum of Directors and Voting.

One-half of the directors entitled to vote, either represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of directors for the transaction of any business. Once a director is present at a meeting, such director is deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting and for adjournment of that meeting. In the event the Regional Director cannot attend, the Alternate Director shall become the region's representative. In the event neither the Regional Director nor the Alternate Director can attend, the Regional Director may designate a proxy in writing, which proxy shall be another administrator from that region. The written proxy shall be signed by the Regional Director or their duly authorized attorney-in-fact. Written proxies must be received by the Secretary no less than two (2) hours prior to the start of the meeting. Proxies shall be publicly reviewed prior to the start of the meeting. Oral proxies shall not be accepted. A proxy shall be valid for the meeting for which it is received.

Only Directors, and in the absence of a Regional Director the corresponding Alternate Regional Director, or in their absence the Regional Director's proxy shall be eligible to vote. In no event shall any member of the Board be entitled to more than one vote.

In the event of a tie, the matter shall be put to a second vote after a period of additional discussion. In the event of a second tie, the matter shall be considered as not carried.

Section 6 - Board of Directors Meetings by Conference Telephone.

Regional Directors or Alternate Directors may participate in a regular or special meeting of the Board by means of conference telephone or similar communication equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A person participating in a meeting by such means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting. Such equipment shall be provided only for voting Board member(s), and if so provided, may be used by other members provided there is no additional cost to the Association.

Section 7 - Compensation of Directors.

The Association shall not pay any compensation to directors for services rendered to the Association.

Section 8 - Indemnification for Directors.

The Association shall maintain directors and officers liability insurance (D&O), in appropriate amounts, as indemnification for losses or advancement of defense costs in the event an insured suffers such a loss as a result of a legal action brought for alleged wrongful acts in their capacity as directors or officers.

In addition, the Association may maintain additional liability coverage, including coverage for errors and omissions (E&O), as deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE FOUR

OFFICERS

Section 1 - *Election and Terms.*

At the Annual Conference, the members shall elect a President-Elect, Secretary, and Treasurer. The President-Elect elected at the Annual Conference shall automatically become President upon the election of a President-Elect at the subsequent Annual Conference. The most recent Past-President available to serve shall also be an officer.

The President, President-Elect, and Secretary shall serve for one (1) year, or until their successors are elected. The Treasurer shall serve for two (2) years, or until their successor is elected.

A majority of all votes cast shall be necessary for election of officers. In case no candidate shall receive a majority, the one receiving the smallest number of votes shall be dropped and another ballot shall be taken.

In the event there is a tie between only two candidates, the matter shall be put to a second ballot. In the event of a second tie, the matter shall be determined by the toss of a coin to be conducted by the presiding officer.

Election shall be by written ballot for any office for which more than one candidate is nominated. The presiding officer shall appoint tellers to distribute, collect, and count the ballots.

Nominating speeches shall be limited to two (2) minutes and one seconding speeches to one (1) minute. Each candidate speech shall be limited to five (5) minutes.

Section 2 - *Powers and Duties.*

The officers shall have such duties as generally pertain to their respective offices as well as such powers and duties as from time-to-time may be delegated to them by the Board.

The President, or in their absence the President-Elect, or another Board member designated by either for such purpose, shall preside at the meetings of the membership.

The President, or the President's designee, may present to any interested party the Association's position, as determined by these Bylaws, on any issue.

In addition, the duties of the President shall include:

- (1) presiding at the meetings of the Board of Directors or the membership;
- (2) ensuring the ongoing business of the Association is carried out in a timely and effective manner;
- (3) recommending to the Board the annual program and the committees necessary to carry out these programs;

- (4) appointing all committee members and designating the chair of each committee for NASWA and for NASWA positions in CESER; and
- (5) in consultation with the Board, forming an ad-hoc internal review task force every five years, or more often if required, to study the structure, bylaws, and activities of the Association and recommend changes as needed.

The duties of the President-Elect shall include:

- (1) presiding at meetings of the Board of Directors or the membership in the President's absence;
- (2) designating vice chairs and technical chairs of committees; and
- (3) performing other duties as may be assigned by the President, for the benefit of the Association.

The duties of the Secretary shall include:

- (1) ensuring that proper notice is given for all meetings of the membership or the Executive Committee and for other matters of business as may be required by these By-Laws;
- (2) validating that a quorum exists for meetings and for votes, in accordance with these By-Laws;
- (3) ensuring accurate minutes of general meetings and executive sessions of the Board are provided to the membership in a timely manner following each meeting; and
- (4) reviewing and approving proxy ballots prior to the Board and Membership meetings.

The duties of the Treasurer shall include:

- (1) chairing the Audit and Finance Committee;
- (2) reviewing the financial statements, investment performance and internal controls on a regular basis;
- (3) reporting on the annual audit to the Board of Directors; and
- (4) making recommendations to the Executive Committee on financial and investment related issues.

Section 3 - Resignations, Removal and Vacancies.

Any officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Association. Unless the written notice specifies a later effective date, the resignation shall be effective when it is delivered.

The term of an officer shall end automatically at the time they cease to be employed by a member agency.

Any officer may be removed by the vote of a majority of directors for failure to perform the duties of their office, provided that such action is taken at a properly Noticed Board meeting with an established quorum.

In the case of a vacancy in the office of the President, the President-Elect shall automatically succeed to the presidency for the remainder of the term and shall serve for a full term as President thereafter. A vacancy in the office of the President-Elect shall be filled by election at the next meeting of the members.

A vacancy in the office of Secretary or Treasurer shall be filled by the Board until the next Annual Conference.

Section 4 - Compensation.

The Association shall not pay any compensation to officers for services rendered to the Association.

ARTICLE FIVE

COMMITTEES

Section 1 - Committees of the Board.

One-half of the Board of Directors may create committees. Each committee may have two or more members of the Board who serve at the pleasure of the President.

Section 2 - Standing Committees.

There shall be the following standing committees of the Board:

(a) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee as defined in Article 3. The Executive Committee shall be empowered to take action on behalf of the Board.

(b) Legislative Committee

The Legislative Committee shall be comprised of the Executive Committee members with an option for the President to appoint two additional Regional Directors from different regions. The chair of the Committee shall be appointed by the President, and may be the President. If a Regional Director appointed by the President ceases to serve on the Board, his or her replacement on the Legislative Committee shall be appointed by the President. The President may also, at their discretion, invite some, or all, of the Chairs and Vice-chairs for Committees of the Membership to participate as ex-officio members of the Legislative Committee.

The Committee, working closely with the Executive Director, shall coordinate the Association's legislative activities and, guided by existing Association Positions to the fullest extent possible, review and approve comments, responses and actions with respect to legislative, rules and other proposals before the Congress and federal departments.

(c) Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee shall be comprised of the Treasurer as Chair and two Regional Directors from different regions appointed by the President. The Committee shall meet, at a minimum, twice each year.

The Audit and Finance Committee shall:

- (1) review and select the Auditor;
- (2) review annual audits and provide oversight of corrective action plans that may result from audits, ensuring timely completion of those plans;
- (3) recommend an Investment Policy, which shall be approved by the Executive Committee, select an investment manager and review performance to plan; and
- (4) advise the Executive Committee on significant financial issues for the Association.

Section 3 - *Committees of the Membership.*

The Board shall name such committees consistent with the guiding principles of the Association as may be required to advise or carry-out the work of the Board.

Committee members shall be appointed by the President from among those nominated for committee membership by the administrators of member agencies.

Committees shall be responsible for developing position papers, recommendations, or other work products as assigned by the Board or as raised by the committee, consistent with the mission, program, and priorities of the Association and of the Committee.

Committee members shall be appointed for two (2) years, and may serve unlimited terms. Members from Regions I, III, V, VII, and IX shall be appointed in the odd numbered years and members from Regions II, IV, VI, VIII, and X shall be appointed in the even numbered years. The number of committee members shall be determined by the chair, is not limited and may include multiple members from a state or member agency, where appropriate to the business of the committee.

Quorum shall follow the requirements of Article 2, Section 5 and voting shall follow the requirements of Article 2, Section 6.

Committee chairs and vice chairs shall be appointed for one (1) year, with the vice chair ascending to chair. It is preferable that the chair and vice chair shall be administrators or deputy administrators of member agencies. Chairs may not serve successive terms as the chair, but may be re-selected as vice chair.

In addition to the chair and vice chair, each committee of the membership shall have a technical vice chair who shall be an individual from a member state who holds a non-politically appointed position in a member agency. The technical vice chair shall be appointed by the President-elect, upon recommendation from the chair, for a term of three (3) years, and may serve unlimited terms. The purpose of the technical vice chair is to provide subject matter expertise and continuity.

Vacancies on committees shall be filled from the appropriate region by the President. The President shall fill vacancies occurring among committee chairs and the President-Elect shall fill vacancies occurring among vice chairs and technical chairs.

ARTICLE SIX

STATEMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE ASSOCIATION

Section 1 - Statements.

Statements on behalf of the Association may take any of the following forms:

- (1) an "Issue Brief," which provide NASWA's position and recommended actions on matters of policy, legislation, rules and regulations or other matters germane to the Mission of the Association. An Issue Brief shall incorporate background, data, and rationale to support the position and recommendation, it may include a majority and minority position, and it shall seek to identify a path reconcile or bridge differing positions;
- (2) a "Letter" which expresses NASWA's position and recommended actions on a current matter of importance to a targeted individual or group, which to the fullest extent possible should represent the membership's views previously incorporated in Issue Briefs and its Legislative Agenda, and which shall be issued by the President, or an Administrator designated by the President, and the Executive Director, after consultation with the Legislative Committee, and given sufficient time, the Board or the entire membership;
- (3) a "Testimony Statement" responding to a request to testify on behalf of NASWA to Congress, a federal agency, a federal executive, or other such entity, which shall take the same character of a Letter; or
- (4) the "Legislative Agenda" for NASWA, which shall outline the limited set of prioritized, current issues which shall be actively promoted on behalf of the Association during the current year of its adoption by the membership.

Section 2 - Creation and Adoption of Issue Briefs, Letters and Testimony Statements ("Positions").

Positions may be drafted and proposed to the Legislative Committee for adoption by these sponsors: the President; the Executive Committee; the Legislative Committee; the Board of Directors; the Chair of any Committee of the Membership; or by the Administrator of a member agency. Positions shall take the form adopted by the Board of Directors, for the purpose of maintaining uniformity in presentation.

The Legislative Committee shall review, recommend revisions to the sponsor, work collaboratively with the sponsor and develop a final draft. Such draft may be revised or consolidated with other Positions to provide consistency and to better coordinate the Agency's portfolio of statements.

If the Legislative Committee determines that the Position should not be incorporated in the Statements, it shall be not be advanced. In such cases, The Chair of the Legislative Committee shall notify the sponsor of this action and the reasons therefore. If the sponsor requests, such notification and reasons shall be communicated to the agency administrators.

If the Legislative Committee determines that the Position should be incorporated in the Statements, it shall be advanced. In such cases, the Legislative Committee, with proper Notice shall place the draft on the agenda for Board of Director approval. If approved by the Board, the Board, with proper Notice shall place the draft on the agenda for membership approval. If approved by the membership, the Position shall be added to the Statements.

The membership recognizes the speed at which events can occur in the federal government, and that the process, as described above, may not always be executable for Letters and for Testimony Statements. In the interest of achieving NASWA's Mission, the members agree to permit the President and Executive Director, in consultation with the Legislative Committee, to draft and communicate such Letters and Testimony Statements, without a full vote of the Board of Directors or the membership, provided that time constraints require such action and provided that the Position is not contrary to Positions previously adopted by the Board of Directors and the membership.

The President may suspend the procedures of this Section, without a vote, to permit any Position to be introduced by a member state Administrator from the floor at a meeting of the membership for adoption. As introduction from the floor circumvents the normal provisions of Notice, "One-half of the members entitled to vote" shall be replaced by "Seventy-five percent of members entitled to vote" in Article 2, Section 5.

Notwithstanding any provisions herein, each member agency shall retain the right to present its own position on any issue, provided that it clearly represents such position as its own position and not the position of NASWA.

Section 3 – *Creation and Adoption of the Legislative Agenda.*

The annual Legislative Agenda shall be drafted by the Legislative Committee, for adoption by the Board of Directors prior to the Annual Conference, and for adoption by the membership at the Annual Conference.

Given that the Board of Directors meeting and the Annual Conference are held during the same week, proper Notice of the *Draft* Legislative Agenda shall be given for both meetings in accordance with these Bylaws. Any changes made by the Board of Directors at their meeting shall be permitted to be incorporated in the *Draft* for purposes of adoption at the Annual Conference, and the requirement for proper Notice of these changes for the Annual Conference business meeting shall be suspended. Notwithstanding, the Board of Directors shall make every reasonable effort to communicate such changes to the *Draft* Legislative Agenda to the membership by the end of the day after they were adopted by the Board.

The aforementioned procedure shall also be used to amend the Legislative Agenda, as may be required, at the Second Full Membership meeting.

In the event that it becomes necessary to amend the Legislative Agenda at any other time of the year, changes may be made in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws for conducting the business of the Association.

ARTICLE SEVEN

QUESTIONNAIRES AND SURVEYS

Section 1 – *Questionnaires and Surveys.*

A questionnaire or survey may be sent to member agencies by Association staff, on behalf of any committee chair after approval by the President of the purpose and content of the questionnaire or survey and when: (a) the information is necessary to carry out the Association Mission; (b) the information is not otherwise available; and, (c) the questionnaire is the best means of obtaining it.

Any report, tabulation or comparison or any other product resulting from a survey or questionnaire may be disseminated to member agencies and made available to the general public.

ARTICLE EIGHT

MEMBERSHIP FEES

An annual membership fee shall be fixed by the membership at a membership meeting. Any proposal to change the annual membership fee shall be presented to the members at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to a full membership meeting and voted upon at a membership meeting. Voting shall be in accordance with Article 2, Section 6.

Each state shall pay only one annual membership fee for members, whether they are from one, or more than one, agency.

If a state fails to remit the full amount of its annual membership fee on or before the Annual Meeting, it neither shall be permitted the rights and privileges of a member, nor shall its representatives be permitted to hold office or serve on a committee until such payment is made.

ARTICLE NINE

CORPORATE BUDGET, FUNDS, AND RECORDS

Section 1 - *Annual Budget.*

There shall be an annual budget submitted by the Association's Executive Director, recommended by the Treasurer, and approved by two-thirds of the Board of Directors at the meeting immediately preceding the Annual Conference. "Annual budget" means the total revenues NASWA receives and the total costs NASWA incurs for labor, membership services, meetings, administration, and indirect charges and all other costs related to these items. The annual budget must clearly separate all revenues, cost reimbursements and costs from grants, contracts or other reimbursements and all funds restricted for use by the Association. The fiscal year shall begin on October 1 of each year.

Section 2 - *Checks, Notes and Drafts.*

Checks, notes, drafts and other orders of payment of money by the Association shall be signed by such persons as the Executive Board may authorize, which shall be documented in the Association's procedures.

Section 3 - *Reserve Account.*

The Association shall be permitted to carry over funds from one fiscal year to another for contingency and emergency purposes. If, at the end of the fiscal year, the carryover exceeds two-thirds of the annual budget for the next fiscal year, the Board of Directors shall determine whether to carry over the excess for that fiscal year, budget additional projects or asset purchases, or credit some part or all of the excess to member states.

Section 4 - *Books and Records.*

The Association shall keep at its office correct and complete books and records of the accounts, the activities, and transactions of the Association, the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors, and a current list of the members, directors, and officers of the Association and their addresses.

Section 5 – Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP).

The Association shall adhere to the Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP) in all fiscal and accounting matters.

ARTICLE TEN

AMENDMENTS

These bylaws may be amended at a membership meeting or by mail ballot authorized by the Board. A majority vote of the members eligible to vote shall be required for amendment. The Board shall submit to all member agencies a copy of any proposed amendment at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to such membership meeting or mail ballot. Such proposed amendments to be voted on at a membership meeting may be further amended from the floor at such meeting.

ARTICLE ELEVEN

MEETING RULES

The rules contained in the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised, latest edition*, shall govern the Association and its committees in all cases in which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws and by any special rules of order the Association may adopt.

ARTICLE TWELVE

CORPORATE SEAL

The corporate seal shall be circular in form, shall have the name of the Association inscribed thereon and shall contain the words "Corporate Seal" and "Virginia" and the year the Association was formed in the center, or shall be in such form as may be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors.